IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEC 21 1992

By Chief Deputy Clerk

ANDREA HICKS JACKSON,

Appellant,

v. :

CASE NO. 79,509

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W. C. McLAIN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 201170 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Procedural Progress of the Case

On June 2, 1983, a Duval County Grand Jury indicted Andrea Hicks Jackson for the first degree murder of Gary Bevel.(R 1-2) Jackson proceeded to a jury trial where she was she was convicted as charged and ultimately sentenced to death for the offense. (R 3-15) This court affirmed Jackson's conviction and sentence on direct appeal on November 13, 1986. Jackson v. State, 498 So.2d 406 (Fla. 1986), cert. denied, 483 US 1010, 107 S.Ct. 3241, 97 L.Ed.2d 746 (1987) Jackson filed a motion for post-conviction relief which the trial court denied. However, this court reversed the denial of the motion and remanded this case for a new sentencing proceeding with a new jury. Jackson v. Dugger, 547 So.2d 1197 (Fla. 1989)

A new penalty phase proceeding before a new jury commenced on November 4, 1991.(Tr 199) After hearing extensive evidence from the State and defense, the jury recommended the death sentence by a vote of 7-5 on November 8, 1991.(Tr 1) Circuit Judge Donald Moran, Jr., sentenced Jackson to death.(R 375-382) The court found two aggravating circumstances: (1) the victim was a law enforcement officer engaged in the performance of his official duties, and (2) the offense was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner.(R 380-381) In mitigation, the court found as nonstatutory mitigating circumstances, "substantial evidence of mitigation relating to her background" and acknowledged Andrea's history of childhood sexual abuse, domestic violence as an adult and drug and alcohol dependency. (R

381-382) The court rejected the statutory mitigating circumstances concerning extreme mental or emotional disturbance and impaired capacity.(Tr 382)

Jackson was sentenced on February 21, 1992, and she filed her notice of appeal to this court on March 4, 1992.(R 388)

Facts - Penalty Phase and Sentencing

On May 17, 1983, Andrea Jackson drove to her estranged husband's apartment to pick up her children and parked her car on the street. Around 6:00 p.m., several neighbors heard Andrea unsuccessfully attempting to start the car. (Tr 596-597) Then, they observed her breaking the windows out of the car, removing articles from the car, and cursing the automobile as if it were a person.(Tr 511-515, 526-529, 579-581, 596-599) She removed tools, tires, the battery, and other items from the car.(Tr 513-514, 527-528) During this process which lasted over two hours, she went upstairs to her husbands apartment and returned several times. (Tr 526-529, 547-549, 596-598) Andrea was obviously angry because her car would not crank. (Tr 547, 597) Adam Gray, an automobile salesman at Rockett Motors, said that Andrea had brought the car to him the day before with continued trouble. (Tr 681-683) She was upset with the car and told him she was going to "drive the mother-fucking thing off the main street bridge." (Tr 683, 686)

Officer Burton Griffin arrived at the scene pursuant to a disturbance called at approximately 11:00 p.m..(Tr 667) The neighbors observed the arrival of the police officer.(Tr 516,

529, 583, 600-602) Officer Gary Bevel volunteered to assist Griffin.(Tr 668) Andrea told the police officers that someone had beaten the windows out of her car, and she knew who did it.(Tr 669-671) She produced a driver's license and a bill of sale and stated the registration was in the apartment.(Tr 669-671) Griffin said he detected a faint smell of alcohol on Andrea's breath, but he did not believe she was intoxicated.(Tr 671) Griffin said that he smelled alcohol on Andrea's breath even though he was never closer than 1 1/2 or 2 feet from her. (Tr 675) Bevel began to write the report, and when Griffin asked if he needed further assistance, Bevel said that he did not.(Tr 673) Griffin left the scene.(Tr 673-674)

Four neighbors observed a confrontation between Andrea and Officer Bevel.(Tr 518, 536, 584, 615) Gena Roulhac observed Bevel and Andrea talking.(Tr 516) When Andrea walked away from the car, he approached Roulhac's doorway after noticing she and her sister watching.(Tr 516-517) Bevel was a friend of the family's.(Tr 516) He asked if they had seen what had happened and they told him that Andrea had smashed her own car.(Tr 517) He mentioned that he did not believe her story that someone else had vandalized her car.(Tr 517) Roulhac said her sister told her that Andrea was sitting or walking toward the police car.(Tr 518) At that time, Roulhac left the room to use the restroom and she heard shots.(Tr 518) She ran back to the window and saw the police officer but did not see Andrea.(Tr 518-520, 521)

Anna Marie Allen, Gena Roulhac's sister also observed the confrontation between Andrea and Bevel.(Tr 529-578) Allen said that the two police officers were present for about ten minutes before Andrea appeared and talked to them. (Tr 530) She did not hear the conversation at that time. (Tr 530) When Bevel started questioning Andrea about what happened to the car she couldn't hear the conversation. (Tr 530-531) Allen hear no animosity between the Andrea and the officer, just discussion about calling a wrecker for the car. (Tr 531) She said that Andrea did not appear intoxicated to her.(Tr 531-532) Bevel asked Andrea to get the registration or title to her car and she went upstairs and returned with the papers. (Tr 532) Andrea sat in the passenger's side of the patrol car while Bevel wrote a report. (Tr 532) Andrea then went back upstairs to get something else. Bevel approached Allen's house and asked if they had seen what had happened.(Tr 535) Allen said that they saw Andrea smash her car. (Tr 535) Bevel had said that he did not believe Andrea's story about what happened to the car. (Tr 535) Andrea came back downstairs and was walking down the sidewalk to the patrol car. (Tr 536) She started to get into the driver's seat of the patrol car, and Bevel walked toward her, asking what she was doing in the car. (Tr 536-537) Allen heard Bevel state that he was going to arrest her for giving a false police report. (Tr 537) At that time, Andrea starting hitting him. (Tr 537, 555-Bevel grabbed Andrea's hands and began walking her toward the patrol car. (Tr 538-539) Andrea continued to struggle with him and said she wasn't going to get into the car. (Tr 539-540,

559-560) Bevel grabbed Andrea with one arm and opened the patrol car door with the other. (Tr 561) He was considerably taller and larger than Andrea. (Tr 560-561) Allen said that he was placing her into the car, not shoving her. (Tr 561) After he sat her down on the seat of the car, Bevel then grabbed Andrea at the knees and was trying to place her into the back seat of the patrol car. (Tr 561-563, 540) Andrea slumped over to the side in the car and said, "Why are you doing this?" She also stated, "Why are you manhandling me like this?".(Tr 563) Allen said this statement occurred just as Bevel grabbed Andrea by the knees to put her the rest of the way into the car. (Tr 564) At about this time, Allen said she heard keys drop. (Tr 565) Andrea said, "You made me drop my damn keys.".(Tr 565, 541) Allen said that Bevel backed up slightly, and she then immediately heard gunshots.(Tr 541-542, 565-567) As Bevel was shot, he fell forward into the car. (Tr 541-542, 567-569) Bevel fell on top of the Andrea in the back seat of the car. (Tr 568-569) Andrea pushed Bevel off of her and fled. (Tr 542-543, 568-569)

Leanderaus Fagg also saw the confrontation with the police officer.(Tr 579-593) When he first observed Andrea and Bevel talking, Andrea acted somewhat hostile and wanted to know where her car had been taken.(Tr 583-584) Bevel informed her that he was arresting her for giving false information and began to place her in the backseat of the patrol car. (Tr 584-585) Andrea resisted.(Tr 584-585) The officer placed Andrea into the backseat, and while she was sitting position with her legs

outside the car, Fagg said he heard Andrea tell the officer that he had made her drop her keys.(Tr 585, 588-589) Bevel paused and stepped back as if to look for keys, and at that time, Fagg heard the gunshots.(Tr 585, 589-591) Andrea then fled from the car.(Tr 593)

Mabel Colman lived in the same apartment building as Sheldon Jackson.(Tr 595) She testified that Andrea went downstairs to her car after Officer Bevel had been on the scene for awhile.(Tr 601-602, 636) Andrea went back upstairs and returned to the officer, apparently with paperwork for the car. (Tr 615, 636-637) She sat in the patrol car while Bevel wrote his report.(Tr 637) When Andrea went back upstairs again, a wrecker towed her car away while she was gone. (Tr 615, 638) When she returned, Andrea asked about her car, and Bevel told that the wrecker had towed it.(Tr 615, 639-640) Andrea went back upstairs for a short period of time. (Tr 616, 641) At that time, Bevel walked down the street to where the Allen's sisters lived. (Tr 640) When Andrea left the building this time, Colman saw her putting a gun in her pants pocket.(Tr 616, 641-642) Colman told her husband about the qun.(Tr 617) However, Colman never told Bevel. (Tr 617) She also did not tell any of the police officers during the subsequent investigation. (Tr 644-649) Bevel told Andrea she was under arrest, and Colman said, at that time, Andrea began striking him and backing away. (Tr 617-618) Colman could see that Andrea was seated in the patrol car and Bevel was telling her to place her feet in the car. (Tr 618-619) Andrea was verbally resisting the officer. (Tr 619)

Colman heard Andrea tell the officer that he made her drop her keys.(Tr 619) She then saw Bevel reach down and she heard gunshots.(Tr 620) After Bevel was shot, he fell forward into the car.(Tr 621-622, 652-656) Colman saw Andrea leave the car and run.(Tr 622-623) Colman telephoned the police.(Tr 621)

Officer John Dean responded to the scene at 12:30 a.m. on the morning of May 18, 1983, and pulled in behind Bevel's patrol car.(Tr 688) It was dark when he arrived, he walked up to the patrol car and found Gary Bevel on his back in the back seat of the car facing the rear seat.(Tr 689) Bevel's legs were protruding out of the car slightly.(Tr 689) Dean pulled Bevel up and checked for pulse and found none.(Tr 689) Bevel's weapons were still in his holsters, one in his side holster and a second weapon on an ankle holster.(Tr 690-691) Bevel was not lying on the ground at the time he arrived.(Tr 691)

Thomas McCrone, a paramedic, arrived at the scene within four minutes of receiving a call.(Tr 692, 696) He found Bevel, lying in the backseat of the patrol, car suffering from head wounds.(Tr 693-694) Bevel still had a pulse and labored breathing.(Tr 694-695) McCrone stated that within a few seconds after Bevel was attached to a monitor, the heart beat stopped.(Tr 695-696) Her stated that Bevel was unconscious the entire time.(Tr 696-698)

John Bradley, a homicide detective, testified about various items recovered from the crime scene.(Tr 455) Bevel's cap was found with a bullet hole through the brim.(Tr 467) Blood was found on the seat of the car, the floorboard and the

door threshold.(Tr 472) A bullet was also recovered from the threshold area of the car. The location of the shot indicated that it would have come from inside the car going outside the car.(Tr 473) Bevel's reports and paperwork were also recovered.(Tr 476-487)

Bonafacio Floro, the Deputy Chief Medical Examiner, performed an autopsy on Gary Bevel. (Tr 699-702) He found six gunshot wounds: two to the chest area and four to the head. (Tr 702-703) The two gunshot wounds to the chest -- one in the right shoulder going downward to the armpit and exiting the armpit and one entering at the top of the shoulder blade and stopping just underneath the shoulder blade -- would not have been fatal. (Tr 703) One gunshot wound, starting at the right eyebrow and going downward toward the cheekbone, would not have been fatal.(Tr 703) The other three quishot wounds which entered the top of the head, were fatal wounds. (Tr 703-705) Floro concluded that all the gunshot wounds to the head had stippling indicating near contact wounds. (Tr 705) The firearm would have been within two inches of the wound at the time of the shot. (Tr 705) Floro concluded that the bullet hole in the hat was consistent with the gunshot wound to the upper right eyebrow area. (Tr 706) Floro testified that the victim would have lost consciousness within 60 seconds and would not have regained consciousness.(Tr 717-718) The bullets recovered from the victim were .22 caliber.(Tr 468-469, 761-768)

After Andrea left the scene, she caught a ride with a passing motorist.(Tr 986) David Lee and his friend Randy

Nelson were returning home between 12:00 and 1:30 a.m..(Tr 987) Lee observed Andrea waving as they passed. (Tr 988) Her shirt was open exposing her bra and her hair was in disarray. (Tr 988) Lee thought she had perhaps been molested and left on the roadway. (Tr 989) He slowed down, he and Nelson bickered a bit about stopping, but Lee stopped. (Tr 989) Andrea jogged to his truck and asked for a ride to the Sherwood area. (Tr 989) Lee said that Andrea appeared hysterical and excited. (Tr 990) He also smelled alcohol and she was hesitant and stumbled getting into the truck. (Tr 990) The smell of alcohol was rather heavy. (Tr 990) Lee thought she was intoxicated.(Tr 994) Andrea also appeared nervous and scared. (Tr 991) As they were driving, Andrea asked Lee to stop when she saw someone pass in a car. (Tr She told him the person was her sister. (Tr 991-992) Lee stopped his truck, and Andrea got into the car with the woman. (Tr 992) Later, Lee heard the report about a policeman having been shot and recognized Andrea in the television broadcast. (Tr 992)

Joy Shelton, Andrea's friend, testified that Andrea called her in the early morning hours of May 17th and asked her to pick her up on the 20th Street expressway.(Tr 1027-1029) Joy could tell that Andrea was high or drunk.(Tr 1028) Andrea told her that her car had broken down.(Tr 1028) Before Joy could reach the expressway, someone in a passing truck stopped her car, and Andrea got out of the truck and entered her car.(Tr 1030-1031) She noticed blood on Andrea -- on her blouse and on her jeans.(Tr 1031-1032) Andrea was excited trying to tell her

what had happened.(Tr 1032-1033) She said she had killed a policeman.(Tr 1033) Andrea told Joy that the policeman was trying to arrest her, he was putting her in the backseat of the car, and got on top of her and she shot him. (Tr 1033) They drove to Joy's residence where she lived with her roommate, Shirley Freeman. (Tr 1034) Shirley washed Andrea's clothes. (Tr 1035) Andrea took a shower. (Tr 1037) Andrea and Shirley drank some vodka.(Tr 1037) Shirley called the hospital where she learned that the police officer was dead. (Tr 1038) Andrea kind of went crazy and started screaming and was extremely upset. (Tr 1038) Andrea told Joy that she thought the police officer was trying to rape her. (Tr 1038) She said that the police officer was on top of her and she thought he was trying to rape her. (Tr 1039) Andrea said she did not want to go to jail and the officer told her he was going to take her to jail. (Tr 1039) Joy gave Andrea some money and Shirley called her a taxicab. (Tr 1040)

Shirley Freeman said that Andrea came to their house in the early morning hours of May 17, 1983.(Tr 733-744) She washed Andrea's clothes to get rid of the blood.(Tr 735) Andrea told her that she had shot a policeman because she was not going back to jail.(Tr 735) Andrea also mentioned about someone having tried to rape her in the past.(Tr 740) Andrea was hysterical when she was talking about having shot the policeman.(Tr 739) Andrea also asked Shirley to call the hospital to find out about the officer.(Tr 729) When she learned the officer was dead, Andrea cried and talked about how

sorry she was.(Tr 739-740) Shirley was of the opinion that Andrea was not high that time, although she knew she had been drinking.(Tr 736-737) Andrea had a pistol with her.(Tr 736) Shirley called a taxicab for Andrea, and Andrea left with the gun.(Tr 736)

Carl Lee was the taxicab driver who picked up Andrea.(Tr 753-755) She asked to go to the Greyhound bus station.(Tr 755) She appeared sleepy as if she had just awakened or she was high.(Tr 760) He said Andrea did not appear normal at the door of the car, and he thought she might be drunk or high.(Tr 760)

Mabel Colman, who lived in the same apartment building as Shelton Jackson, saw Andrea return to the apartments around daylight on May 17, 1983.(Tr 623) Andrea came up the back steps of the apartment and knocked on Sheldon's door.(Tr 624) He opened the door and let her in.(Tr 624) Colman telephoned the police.(Tr 625, 657) Colman said when the police arrested her, Andrea appeared upset, denied killing anybody, and came down the stairs dragging a big teddy bear. (Tr 625, 657-658)

Police Sgt. David Diperna and Officer George Barge actually made the arrest of Andrea.(Tr 776-790, 996-1023) Diperna observed Andrea in the backyard of the apartment complex and yelled for her to halt.(Tr 780-781) She ran up the stairs of the apartment.(Tr 781-782) Diperna had Officers Dean and Barge surround the outside of the apartment.(Tr 782) Barge and Diperna went up the back stairs of the apartment.(Tr 783-784, 999-1000) Diperna was talking to Sheldon Jackson who told him that Andrea was not upstairs.(Tr 783) Barge passed them.(Tr

783-784, 1000-1001) Barge scanned the porch area and saw Andrea lying down in a fetal position hiding behind a clothes hamper.(Tr 1015-1016) Barge pushed Sheldon out of his way.(Tr 1017) He jumped toward Andrea, landing on his feet but planting his knees as hard as he could into the middle of her back. (Tr 1017) Barge stated that he was 6'2" and weighed 225 pounds. (Tr 1017) He grabbed Andrea's hands, determined that she did not have a gun, and proceeded to subdue her, handcuff her and arrest her.(Tr 1018) Barge said that Andrea began fighting intensely and he hit her in order to stun her. (Tr 1018) Barge and Diperna finally subdued Andrea, handcuffed her and carried her downstairs. (Tr 1018-1020) During that time, she was screaming that she did not kill a policeman. (Tr 1019) She suffered scrapes and bruises as a result of the struggle. (Tr 1019) Barge detected the odor of alcohol on Andrea when he placed her in the patrol car. (Tr 1021) His opinion was that her faculties were not impaired. (Tr 1022)

Detective John Bradley interviewed Andrea in the homicide office of the police department.(Tr 495-497) Andrea complained that her knee and abdomen hurt.(Tr 496-497) Bradley did not know how she had been injured.(Tr 496-497) He testified that she was under the influence of alcohol, but he did not know she was intoxicated to the point of not knowing what she was doing. He could smell alcohol.(Tr 498) Bradley had Andrea taken to University Hospital to be checked.(Tr 498)

Andrea consumed a quantity of drugs and alcohol on the day of the shooting. Edith Croft, Sheldon Jackson's sister, testi-

fied that she and Andrea used drugs and alcohol together frequently.(Tr 1074-1080) They used heroin, T's and blues, marijuana, and lots of alcohol.(Tr 1078) T's and blues were pink and blue pills that you crush, mixed together and shoot interveinously.(Tr 1078) Croft said that they would start using drugs early in the morning. (Tr 1080) They would use T's and blues to get started in the morning and then drink alcohol and smoke marijuana the rest of the day. (Tr 1080) On the day of the homicide, she and Andrea did a great deal of drugs and alcohol.(Tr 1081) As was their pattern, they started early in the morning about 7:00 to 8:00.(Tr 1081-1082) The two of them used 30 or more T's and blues, drank 2 or 3 fifths of liquor and smoked marijuana. (Tr 1082-1083) They parted company in the late afternoon or early evening. (Tr 1084-1085) Croft was present at Sheldon's apartment at the time Andrea was arrested. (Tr 1086) She saw Andrea hiding on the porch before the policeman came and said that she was "messed up"; she was still "glowing". (Tr 1086-1087) Richard Washington, another friend of Andrea's, drank alcohol with Andrea around 10:00 or 10:30 a.m. on May 16, 1983. She had two drinks with him. (Tr 1052) He said she was high when she came into the bar. (Tr 1052) She left about 1:30 p.m..(Tr 1054-1056)

The medical reports of the screening done by the registered nurse at the jail after Andrea's arrest indicated that Andrea admitted to heroin addiction and other drug use including cocaine.(Tr 1109) During the interview, Andrea appeared uncooperative and hostile and also sleepy.(Tr 1111)

Andrea had also reported having blackouts and headaches when she drinks and a previous attempted suicide.(Tr 1113) Andrea reported that when she drinks she cannot control her actions. (Tr 1114) At the time of the medical screening, the nurse noted that Andrea's pupils were dilated and reacted very little to light.(Tr 1114) The medical records indicated that Andrea had scars and needle marks on her left arm.(Tr 1115-1117)

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