IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



MAR 26 1993

ANDREA HICKS JACKSON,

Appellant,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT,

Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 79,509

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN M. SNURKOWSKI ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 158541

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-1778

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

- 40 -

enforcement officers but, also against the very fabric of our society. In creating the Law Enforcement Protection Act, the Florida Legislature observed that:

> It finds it necessary for the citizens of Florida to send a clear message to the criminal element that Florida will not tolerate the vicious murders, assaults and batteries on its law enforcement.

Where, as here, however, <u>two</u> significant statutory aggravating factors have been proven beyond a reasonable doubt, Jackson's mitigation necessarily pales. As such, the trial court was correct in concluding that death was the appropriate penalty imposed <u>sub judice</u>. The sentence is proportionate. <u>See Valle v.</u> <u>State</u>, 581 So.2d 40 (Fla. 1991); <u>Swafford v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>Phillips v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Cruse v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>.

POINT IV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO ADMIT INTO EVIDENCE THE VIDEO TAPE OF THE HYPNOTIC REGRESSION DR. MUTTER PERFORMED ON JACKSON AND WHICH BECAME A SIGNIFICANT BASIS FOR HIS EXPERT OPINION ON HER MENTAL CONDITION AT THE TIME OF THE CRIME

Jackson now argues reversible error occurred at resentencing because the trial court granted the State's motion in limine to preclude the admission into evidence of the video tape of the hypnotic regression session performed by Dr. Mutter on Jackson (TR 304). The trial court ruled and the record reflects that Dr. Mutter was permitted to testify about the hypnotic regression session and was allowed to read extensively from the transcripts of the session during his testimony. The sole basis for reversal asserted is that the video tape was not admitted. While at first

- 41 -

blush the State would submit no error occurred with regard to the omission of the video tape being played to the jury, beyond peradventure any error this Court might unearth is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of what actually was brought before the jury at trial. <u>See State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

First of all, contrary to Jackson's assertion that the video tape was admissible "as evidence the experts relied upon to reach their opinions about her mental state", the video tape was not admissible. The whole premise of expert testimony and opinion is to provide specialized information to the jury that they could otherwise not discern through evidence presented to them. If Jackson is right, and the jury should be permitted to see every step engaged in by an expert in formulating an expert opinion, the expert would never have to testify because the jury could review and formulate an opinion for itself. In <u>Morgan v. State</u>, 537 So.2d 973 (Fla. 1989), the Court, agains receded from <u>Bundy v. State</u>, 471 So.2d 9 (Fla. 1985), in light of <u>Rock v. Arkansas</u>, 483 U.S. 44 (1987), and held:

> The issue is not whether Morgan's hypnotic statements are reliable testimony to prove the truth of the matter asserted. Rather, the question is limited to whether mental health experts can testify about Morgan's sanity if their opinion is based in part on information received from hypnotic statements obtained through a medically approved diagnostic technique.

537 So.2d at 976.

The Court concluded:

Courts can not establish accepted medical practices; they can only ensure that accepted

methods are properly utilized. We conclude that, even without the United States Supreme Court's Rock decision, Morgan should have been permitted to introduce conclusions drawn from medically accepted techniques. Here, his mental health experts were effectively barred from using medically accepted procedures to diagnose him. If courts seek medical opinions, they cannot bar the medical professional from using accepted medical methods to reach an opinion.

537 So.2d at 976.

Nowhere in <u>Morgan</u> does the Court countenance the actual playing of the hypnotically refreshed testimony tape, rather, what is being permitted is that doctors in reaching a medical conclusion may use medically accepted techniques.

Jackson further argues that the video tape was admissible to "rebut the State's attacks on the reliability of the hypnotic session and to provide to the jury the best evidence of fulfilling its burden of evaluating the weight and credibility of the expert opinions rendered." Such a contention is equally Raw scores without analysis mean nothing. Similarly, erroneous. a video tape of a hypnotic regression in and of itself means To a trained expert, however, it may be important in nothing. formulating an opinion with regard to an expert's field of Nowhere in Morgan v. State, supra, did this Court endeavor. suggest that the "nuts and bolts" of getting to an expert's opinion could be or must be paraded before a jury. Clearly, it is within the trial court's discretion to ascertain whether said evidence is appropriate or whether there is an alternative means by which the jury can be meaningfully informed as to the import of the evidence being presented.

While not unmindful that video tapes are admissible for a number of purposes, none of the authorities cited by Jackson support the conclusion that the video tape should have been admitted <u>sub judice</u>. To the extent Jackson argues that the video tape was admissible to rebut the State's "charges" that the hypnotic session was flawed, said assertion is equally in error. Again, a jury hearing raw data or raw information has no way of telling or discerning what fact is or is not appropriate. In fact, Jackson's own counsel inquired of Dr. Miller as to whether he was aware and could comment with regard to hypnotic recession procedures. Moreover, it was Dr. Miller who suggested that after viewing the tape, in his professional opinion, the questioning by Dr. Mutter with regard to Jackson's earlier rape was suggestive in nature.

Whatever comfort Jackson chooses to take from the decision in <u>Dowell v. State</u>, 516 So.2d 271 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987), is curious since the court, in <u>Dowell</u>, with great caution affirmed the admission of video taped reenactments and the use of an audio tape recording of part of a hypnotic session on redirect examination to rebut an implied charge of improper influence on a witness. The Court held:

> . . We conclude that the admission into evidence of a audio tape recording of part of a hypnosis session with that witness, that being admitted evidence on redirect examination an implied charge of improper influence on the witness, was not erroneous, $\frac{\text{see Thompkins v. State, 502 So.2d 415, 419}}{(Fla. 1986), especially in view of the trial}$ court's instruction to the jury to consider the witness's testimony with caution. Also, there was testimony of the witness and of the officer who conducted the session that the witness was not hypnotized.

516 So.2d at 274.

Terminally, Jackson argues that "regardless of its admissibility on other grounds, the video tape was admissible in the penalty phase as mitigating evidence". The test for admission of mitigating evidence is relevancy. In the instant case, relevant evidence with regard to Jackson's mental state at the time of the crime was admitted through the testimony of Dr. Mutter who detailed the processes he used to reach his expert conclusions. No error occurred when the trial court denied the admission of the video taped hypnotic regression session.

POINT V

ERRED IN NOT THE TRIAL COURT WHETHER AGGRAVATING DECLARING THE PREMEDITATION CIRCUMSTANCE PROVIDED FOR BY §921.141(5)(i), UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE OR, ALTERNATIVELY, GIVING THE STANDARD PENALTY PHASE JURY IN INSTRUCTION WHICH FAILS TO APPRISE THE JURY OF THE LIMITING INTERPRETATION THIS COURT HAS GIVEN TO THE CIRCUMSTANCE

Jackson's next argument is two-fold. First, she asserts that the aggravating factor that the crime was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner is unconstitutionally vague; and second, she urges that the standard instruction provided for said aggravating factor "fails to apprise the jury of the limiting interpretation of this factor."

Jackson admits that the caselaw is adverse to her with regard to her instant claim. (Appellant's Brief, at 55). Indeed, in <u>Brown v. State</u>, 565 So.2d 304 (Fla. 1990), and later in <u>Klokoc v. State</u>, 589 So.2d 219, 222 (Fla. 1991), the Court held: Regarding the first claim, counsel argues that the death sentence must be reversed because the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating factor found by the trial court is unconstitutionally vague. Furthermore, Klokoc's counsel asserts that, even if it is constitutional, it is not supported by the evidence since a pretense of moral or legal justification was present for this crime.

We reject the claim that §921.141(5)(i), Florida Statutes, is unconstitutionally vague. See Harich v. Dugger, 844 F.2d 1464 (11th Cir. 1988), cert. denied, 489 U.S. 1071, 109 S.Ct. 1355, 103 L.Ed.2d 822 (1989). We also reject the claim that this factor is not supported by the evidence. The evidence in this record justifies this aggravating circumstance.

589 So.2d at 222. See also Fotopoulos v. State, 608 So.2d 784 (Fla. 1992); Cruse v. State, supra.

To the extent Jackson is arguing that the United States Supreme Court, in summarily reversing in <u>Hodges v. Florida</u>, ______ U.S. ____, 113 S.Ct. 33, 121 L.Ed.2d 6 (1992), in light of <u>Espinosa v. Florida</u>, 505 U.S. ____, 112 S.Ct. ____, 120 L.Ed.2d 854 (1992), mandates that this aggravating factor is vague, no such result can be derived from <u>Espinosa</u>. In fact, <u>Espinosa</u> does not speak to the constitutional validity of a given aggravating factor, rather, <u>Espinosa</u> pertains to whether a jury who may be a "co-sentencer", must be properly instructed with regard a given aggravating factor.

In the instant case, the proposed instruction by Jackson did not give a full or correct instruction based on the caselaw as to the meaning of the phrase cold, calculated and premeditated murder without a pretense of moral or legal justification. For example, the proposed instruction set forth in Appellant's Brief

at page 51 and found in (TR 348), provides that a substantial period of reflection and though by defendant before the murder occurs constitutes heightened premeditation. From the caselaw it is clear that a "substantial" period of reflection and thought is uninformative because it tends to confuse and present no clearer what is "intended" bv cold, calculated and picture of premeditated. For example, in Rutherford v. State, 545 So.2d 855 (Fla. 1989), the court upheld a death sentence stating that cold, calculated and premeditated is not limited to execution, contract, or witness elimination murders, but may be applied where a careful or "prearranged" design was presented. In Lamb v. State, 532 So.2d 1051 (Fla. 1988), the court affirmed CCP where the procuring of a weapon beforehand supported for a heightened premeditation. In Swafford v. State, 533 So.2d 270 (Fla. 1988), the court recognized that shooting an individual nine times after having to reload the gun constituted "sufficient time" for planning and reflection to support CCP. In Haliburton v. State, 561 So.2d 248 (Fla. 1990), the defendant there told his brother he wanted to see if he could kill someone. Moreover, a pretense of moral or legal justification was rejected in Jones v. State, So.2d (Fla. 1992), 18 Fla. L. Weekly S11, S13, where the defendant asserted that his legal and moral justification for the killings was because he perceived the victim was part of the world that was rejecting him. See also Cruse v. State, supra. Certainly, the instruction submitted was no better than that of the standard jury instruction provided.

Based on the foregoing, the State would submit that the standard jury instruction given <u>sub judice</u> was neither vague nor inappropriate for the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating factor.

POINT VI

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GIVE AN INSTRUCTION TO THE JURY THAT THE AGGRAVATING FACTOR DEFINED BY §§921.141(5)(e), (g) & (j), FLORIDA STATUTES MERGED INTO A SINGLE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE UNDER THE FACTS PRESENTED

The jury was instructed on three statutory aggravating factors. Specifically, they were told:

(1) The crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest or effecting an escape from custody.

(2) The crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without a pretense of moral or legal justification.

(3) The victim of the crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was a law enforcement officer engaged in the performance of his official duty.

(TR 1593).

It is respectfully submitted that no merger instruction was necessary <u>sub judice</u>, because the facts of the instant case could have supported §921.141(5)(e), Fla.Stat., and §921.141(5)(j), Fla.Stat., independent of one another. In <u>Valle v. State</u>, 581 So.2d 40, 47 (Fla. 1991), this Court determined that the creation of §921.141(5)(j), Fla.Stat., did not create an <u>ex post facto</u> problem where the aggravating factor that the victim was a law enforcement officer engaged in the performance of this official duties was applied to a case where the crime occurred prior to said factors enacted. Relying on <u>Combs v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 418 (Fla. 1981), the Court, comparing this "new" factor to the cold, calculated and premeditated factor, prior <u>ex post facto</u> analysis, found:

> . . . The aggravating factor that the victim was а law enforcement officer who was murdered while performing his official duties is not an entirely new factor, and Valle is not disadvantaged by its application. At the time Valle committed his crime, the Legislature had established the aggravating factor or murder to prevent a lawful arrest and murder to hinder the lawful exercise of any governmental function or the enforcement of laws. (cites omitted). By proving the elements of these two factors in this case, the State has essentially proven the elements necessary to prove the murder of a law enforcement officer aggravating factor. In any event, Valle is not disadvantaged because the trial judge merged these three factors into one aggravating factor.

581 So.2d at 47.

Nowhere in the <u>Valle</u> case did the court specifically state that these factors always were merged or that in a given case these factors could not be independently proven and therefore not constitute an "improper doubling." In <u>Castro v. State</u>, 597 So.2d 259 (Fla. 1992), the Court merely clarified its previous decision in <u>Suarez v. State</u>, 481 So.2d 1201 (Fla. 1985), in holding that "when applicable, the jury may be instructed on 'doubled' aggravating circumstances since it may find one but not the other to exist. A limiting instruction properly advises the jury that should it find both aggravating factors present, it must consider the two factors as one, and thus the instruction should have been given." 597 So.2d at 261. In the instant case, however, the State's theory of why Jackson committed the murder was to avoid arrest. Statements to Joy Shelton immediately after the murder supported the State's theory. The State also proved, however, that the victim, Gary Bevell, was in fact a law enforcement officer killed in the performance of his duties, in trying to arrest Jackson. Beyond peradventure, both aggravating factors were appropriate. This is especially true where, as here, the defendant admitted that she was not going back to jail and that was the basis for the murder, to-wit: to avoid arrest and perfect her escape.

Even assuming for the moment it would have been more appropriate for the the trial court to have given a "merger" instruction, any error that resulted was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>See Jones v. State</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly at S13; <u>Clark v. State</u>, <u>So.2d</u> (Fla. 1992), 18 Fla. L. Weekly S17, S18, and Fotopoulos v. State, 608 So.2d 784 (Fla. 1992).

POINT VII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING AND WEIGHING THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE THAT THE VICTIM WAS A LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER PROVIDED FOR IN §921.141(5)(j), SINCE THE OFFENSE OCCURRED PRIOR TO THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THIS AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE AND THE APPLICATION HEREIN VIOLATES JACKSON'S RIGHTS UNDER THE <u>EX POST FACTO</u> PROVISIONS OF THE FLORIDA AND THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTIONS

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